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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 

 

In the Matter of  
 
CERTAIN BLOWERS AND 
COMPONENTS THEREOF 

Inv. No. 337-TA-1217 
ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDING 

 
ORDER NO. 36: DENYING RESPONDENTS’ MOTION FOR MONETARY 

SANCTIONS, AND DENYING COMPLAINANT’S 
REQUESTS FOR SANCTIONS, WITH ORDERS AND A 
RECOMMENDATION 

    
 (December 14, 2021)  
 
 

I. INTRODUCTION1 
 

A. Overview: East West’s Sanctions Motion And Regal’s “Requests” For Sanctions 

Before Respondents East West Manufacturing and East West Industries (“East West”) 

filed a response to Complainant Regal Beloit America, Inc.’s (“Regal” and with East West, “the 

Private Parties”) Enforcement Complaint,2 East West filed a motion for sanctions (“Sanctions 

Motion”) against Regal, pursuant to the Commission’s Rule 210.4(c) and 210.4(d). 19 C.F.R. § 

210.4(c) and (d), together with a memorandum (“Sanctions Mem.”) in support.3 (Sanctions 

 
1 Following the filing of this Order, an Enforcement Initial Determination (“EID”) will be filed on 

EDIS.  The EID has found that East West has not violated the Consent Order that issued on November 12, 
2020 (“Consent Order”) and that its accused product, a redesigned PDV blower (“Redesigned PDV 
Blower”)does not infringe U.S. Patent No. 8,079,834 (“the ’834 patent”).  The EID provides procedural 
history not provided here.  The “Civil Remedies” Section of the EID describes the timing and some of the 
communications between Regal and East West from November 12, 2020, the issuance of the Consent 
Order in the underlying violation proceeding (“Underlying Proceeding”), and East West’s filing of its 
Sanctions Motion on March 1, 2021.   

 
2 Verified Enforcement Complaint, Doc. ID No. 730683 (Jan. 15, 2021) (“Enforcement 

Complaint”).  The Enforcement Complaint accuses East West of violating the Consent Order, and of 
infringing the ’834 patent.  

 
3 Motion for Sanctions (together) Motion Docket No. 1217-001 (Mar. 1, 2001) (“Sanctions 

Motion” or “Mem.”). 
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Motion at 1, Sanctions Mem. at 1.).  East West contends that Regal materially misrepresented 

East West’s Redesigned PDV (power direct vent) Blower in Regal’s Enforcement Complaint.  

(Sanctions Mem. at 5; see id. Photographs at 5-9 (citations to Enforcement Complaint omitted).).  

East West has asked for monetary sanctions against Regal to pay for some part of East West’s 

attorneys’ fees, and punitive damages as a deterrent penalty for Regal’s allegedly knowingly 

false representations in its Enforcement Complaint.  East West also asked for a termination of the 

Enforcement Complaint.  (Sanctions Mem. at 22.). 

On March 11, 2021, Regal filed its Opposition to East West’s Sanctions Motion 

(“Opposition”).4  (Doc. ID No. 736736.).  Regal describes East West’s Motion as “baseless.”  

(Opp’n at 1, 21.).  Regal says that East West’s Sanctions Motion “misrepresents” what the 

asserted claims “require.”  (Id. at 12.).  Regal contends that East West “mischaracterized “its 

Redesigned PDV Blower housing to include a gasket when the “gasket material” is not claimed 

in the ’834 claims and therefore is irrelevant.  (Id. at 1, 21.).  Regal notes that East West’s 

Sanctions Motion’s characterization of the “gasket” is “substantially and misleadingly different 

from the characterizations in East West’s technical document.”  (Id. at 10.).  To that end, Regal 

contends that the “gaskets” East West claims are “attached” to the bottom of its Redesigned 

Blower Housing are not “permanently attached” but are removable components.  (Supplemental 

Hearing Tr. (“Suppl. Tr.”), Doc. ID No. 752757 (Sept. 28, 2021) at 60:10-25.).  Specifically, 

addressing the “Blower Base Gasket,” Regal contends (as it has throughout) that it is also shown 

in a “Serviceable Parts” list, which lead Regal to believe that the “gaskets” are not attached but 

 
 
4 Regal Beloit’s Memorandum in Opposition to East West’s Motion for Sanctions (Doc. ID No. 

736736 (Mar. 11, 2021) (“Opposition”). 
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are “replaceable” “consumable components for use with the blower, and that East West 

mischaracterized them.  (Id. at 11; Suppl. Tr. at 58:12-24; id. at 60:10-24; id. at 62:7-63:9; id. at 

64:17-24.).  Regal has asked that East West’s Sanctions Motion be denied.  Regal has asked for 

monetary sanctions in the form of its expenses and attorneys’ fees against East West pursuant to 

Commission Rule 210.4(d)(1)(i) for a “baseless” motion.  19 C.F.R. § 210.4(d)(1)(i).  Regal 

contends that East West’s Sanctions Motion is procedurally defective because it violated the 

safe-harbor requirements of Rule 210.4(d).   

On March 18, 2021, Commission Investigative Staff (“Staff,” and with Regal and East 

West, “the Parties”) filed his initial response (“Staff Response”) to East West’s Sanctions 

Motion, in which Staff did not take a position, awaiting a more developed record.5  

In addition to the explicit briefing on sanctions, the Parties have addressed the issue of  

sanctions in pre-hearing briefing, post-hearing briefing, and during two hearings.6  The only 

patent at issue is the ’834 patent.  

 From the first Management conference on March 9, 2021 (Mgmt. Conf. (Mar. 19, 2021), 

in Order Nos. 24, 27, 28, and during the evidentiary hearing (“Hearing”), I advised the Parties 

 
5 Commission Investigative Staff Response to Motion for Sanctions Against Regal Beloit 

America, Inc. (Doc. ID No. 737479 (Mar. 18, 2021). 
 
6 The additional briefs include: Complainant’s Pre-Hearing Brief (Doc. ID No. 743925 (June 3, 

2021); Respondent’s Pre-Hearing Brief (Doc. ID No. 743933) (June 3, 2021); Staff’s Pre-Hearing Brief 
(Doc. ID No. 744633) (June 11, 2021); Complainant’s Initial Post-Hearing Brief (Doc. ID No. 749980) 
(Aug. 19, 2021); Respondents’ Initial Post-Hearing Brief (Doc. ID No. 749980) (Aug. 19, 2021); Staff’s 
Initial Post-Hearing Brief (Doc. ID No. 749990) (Aug. 19, 2021); Complainant’s Post-Hearing Reply 
Brief (Doc. ID No. 750744) (Sept. 1, 2021); Respondents’ Post-Hearing Reply Brief (Doc. ID No. 
750743) (Sept. 1, 2021); Staff’s Post-Hearing Reply Brief (Doc. ID No. 750750) (Sept. 1, 2021); 
Complainant’s Supplemental Brief Regarding Sanctions Issues (Doc. ID No. 753636 (Oct. 6, 2021); 
Respondents’ Brief Pursuant to Closed Session Oral Order (Doc. ID No. 753641 (Oct. 6, 2021) (“East 
West SBr.”); Commission Investigative Staff’s Supplemental Brief Regarding Sanctions Issues (Doc. ID 
No. 753633) (Oct. 6, 2021) (“Staff SBr.”); Complainant’s Response to ALJ’s Notice to Show Cause Why 
Sanctions Should Not Be Imposed (Doc. ID No. 755248) (Oct. 27, 2021) (“Regal SBr.). 
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clearly and explicitly not only how seriously I take sanctions motions, but also that I would 

decide and apprise them if an additional hearing, additional exhibits and additional measures 

would be taken as the record developed. 

After the Hearing of July 20-July 23, 2021, I held a supplemental, confidential hearing on 

September 22, 2021 (“Supplemental Hearing”) that focused on the Private Parties’ sanctions 

requests and the communications between the Private Parties’ attorneys.  (Suppl. Tr., Doc. ID 

No. 752757.).  The Private Parties’ written communications are part of the record, in part in 

response to Order No. 27.  The Supplemental Hearing transcript is confidential and was filed 

“under seal.”   

On October 26, 2021, after the hearings were complete and the transcripts and briefs had 

been re-reviewed, I issued a “Notice To Show Cause Why Sanctions Should Not Be Imposed,” 

(“Notice to Show Cause”), pursuant to Commission Rule 210.4(d)(1)(ii).   

Of particular concern, as addressed in the Notice to Show Cause, are Regal’s statements 

that East West “admitted” in the Consent Order Stipulation that it infringed the ’834 patent, and 

alleged mischaracterizations of East West’s Redesigned PDV Blower.  Of particular concern to 

East West, also, have been pictures in the Enforcement Complaint that do not reflect the gasket 

material that is part of the Redesigned PDV Blower.  (See Enforcement Compl. at ¶ 9; id. 

Photographs at pp. 8-10; id. at Exs. 3, 5.).  

B.  Summary of Pertinent Facts  

After the Commission issued the November 12, 2020 Consent Order, East West broached 

the possibility of a settlement of a Federal District court case by reaching out to Regal on 

November 13, 2020—just one day after the Consent Order issued.  (Sanctions Mem. 11 (citing 

Ex. 8, and Sweeney Decl., Ex. 4 to Sanctions Mem.; Suppl. Tr. at 14; RX-0198); see also EID.).  
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Apparently, there were several phone calls between the Parties during the third and fourth 

weeks of November 2020.  In a November 13, 2020 letter, East West notified Regal it had a 

Redesigned PDV (power direct vent) Blower (“Redesigned PDV Blower”), which it believed did 

not infringe the ’834 patent.  (Sanctions Mem. at 11; Suppl. Tr. at 14.).  To that end, and to 

assure Regal it had taken additional steps not to infringe the ’834 patent, East West provided 

Regal with CAD (computer aided design) drawings, sales figures and a non-infringement legal 

opinion.  (Sanctions Mem. at 11 (citing Ex. 8 to Sanctions Mem. (Nov. 13, 2020 Ltr.); Opp’n at 

Ex. 8; Suppl. Tr. at 14-15; see RX-0121 (Kelly Opinion).).   

In the November 13, 2020 East West letter, East West explained specifically how the 

Redesigned PDV Blower did not infringe the ’834 patent, in part because of the attachment of 

two brackets, and the circuitry compartment was suspended above what would be a heater 

surface.  (Sanctions Mem. at 11.).  In response, Regal asked for a sample of the Redesigned PDV 

Blower on or about November 18, 2020, which East West imported from Vietnam and provided 

to Regal on or about November 24, 2020.  (See Opp’n at 3 (citing Decl. of J. Musch); see also 

Suppl. Tr. at 19; see also EID.).   

Regal acknowledges that it removed the gasket material from the “bottom surface” of the 

sample Redesigned PDV Blower housing East West provided as part of its examination because 

it obscured the bottom surface of the blower housing, and to determine if the Redesigned PDV 

Blower infringed the ’834 patent.  (Opp’n at 3.).  Regal states that “no portion of the blower 

housing was modified or removed.”  (Id. (citing Musch Decl. at ¶¶ 5-6, Ex. to Opp’n).).  On 

December 15, 2020, Regal sent East West an e-mail in which it advised East West that its view 

was that the Redesigned PDV Blower infringed the ’834 patent and mentioned an enforcement 

proceeding.  (RX-202; Suppl. Tr. at 21.).  On or about December 17, 2020, East West sent a 
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communication to Regal asking that Regal explain why the Redesigned PDV Blower infringed 

the ’834 patent.  (Suppl. Tr. at 23.).  

The last written communication between the Private Parties before Regal filed the 

Enforcement Complaint was on January 6, 2021, when Regal sent East West an e-mail with a 

draft copy of the Enforcement Complaint.  (Sanctions Mem. at 12 n.1; Suppl. Tr. at 22; see also 

EID.).  East West acknowledges that it did not immediately respond to the draft Enforcement 

Complaint or apprise Regal of its concerns about statements made therein.  (Suppl. Tr. at 24.).  

On February 18, 2021, East West served Regal with a copy of a draft Sanctions Motion 

calling Regal’s various representations of the Redesigned PDV Blower in the Enforcement 

Complaint as misrepresentations.  (Sanctions Motions at e.g. 1-8, 11 (citing Enforcement Compl. 

at 4, 5, 7, 9, 11, 13, 21, 22, 24-25, 28, 29, 32, and Exs. 3, 5, 6, 7 to Enforcement Compl.);  Regal 

SBr. at 2; Suppl. Tr. at 28-36.).  As Regal describes, and as East West has acknowledged, the 

first time Regal heard that East West was concerned about certain photographs and allegations in 

the Enforcement Complaint was in the draft, February 18, 2021 Sanctions Motion that East West 

provided to Regal and Staff. 

On February 23, 2021, less than one week before East West filed the March 1, 2021 

Sanctions Motion, the Parties held a “meet and confer.”  (See Opp’n at 5; Suppl. Tr. at 14-17; see 

also RX-0198.).  Regal informed East West of what it viewed as “misstatements” in the draft 

Sanctions Motion.  (Opp’n at 5.).  Apparently, the meeting was short and unproductive. (Suppl. 

Tr. at 41; id. at 85:9-20; id. at 8-15.).  East West modified the draft Sanctions Motion to remove 

some certain statements that Regal considered inflammatory, such as that Regal had 

“photoshopped” some of the photographs in the Enforcement Complaint.  (See, e.g., Suppl. Tr. at 

46; id. at 66:1-67:25.). 
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At least according to East West, Regal knew by then that East West’s view was that the 

Redesigned PDV Blower housing, as constructed, included two attached gaskets, a “Blower Base 

Gasket” and a “Bracket Base Gasket” and that the circuitry compartment was suspended above 

the bottom surface of the blower housing so that it could not infringe.  (Id.).  East West has 

argued that it informed Regal that there were a number of misrepresentations in Regal’s 

Enforcement Complaint and in the attached photographs and cited to the Enforcement 

Complaint.  (See Sanctions Mot. (citations above).).   

After the February 23, 2021 “meet and confer” in which each party participated, East 

West reiterated its concerns to Regal in a February 25, 2021 letter.  East West explained to Regal 

that its claims that East West had admitted liability, and that Regal’s understanding of the 

Consent Order/Consent Order Stipulation, were incorrect.  (See Ex. 1, July 28, 2021 Exhibits in 

Response to Order No. 27 (Feb.25, 2021 Swain Letter).).   

Regal disagreed  with East West’s non-infringement legal arguments and with East 

West’s view of the claims of the ’834 patent.  (Opp’n at  1-3, 5.).  None of East West’s 

explanations changed Regal’s view that the Redesigned PDV Blower infringes the ’834 patent.  

Once each Private Party knew the other’s positions and there was no movement toward 

settlement, the Private Parties dug in on their narratives and legal positions.7 

During the period, November 12, 2020-March 18, 2021, the issue of sanctions percolated 

and then escalated as the backdrop to the litigation.  (Suppl. Tr., Doc. ID No. 752757.).   

 
7 Regal’s narrative throughout its briefing is that East West engaged in “gamesmanship” by 

engaging Regal in the Consent Order, and then one day after the Consent Order issued, disclosing to 
Regal it had a Redesigned PDV Blower.  East West’s narrative throughout its briefing is that since 2019, 
Regal had been threatening litigation because East West, a $300 million dollar company, moved into a 
market in which Regal, a $300 billion company, held dominance.  The Private Parties’ briefs all contain 
some variation or reinforcement of their narrative descriptions of each other’s intentions and motivations 
for the patent litigation. Neither of those narratives is at issue: only instances of specific conduct.  
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 The Private Parties’ legal arguments on Markman constructions or on infringement did 

not change  throughout the Markman proceedings or during the Hearing notwithstanding the 

sanctions requests. 

II. THE PARTIES’ POSITIONS, IN BRIEF 

A. East West 

East West’s Sanctions Motion alleges that Regal engaged in several actions that were not 

“objectionably reasonable” under the circumstances for which sanctions are warranted.  

(Sanctions Mem. at 4.).  East West alleges that Regal “physically altered,” i.e., removed a gasket 

(i.e., two brackets, a “Blower Base Gasket” and a “Bracket Base Gasket, but with an emphasis 

here on the “Blower Base Gasket”) from the bottom of a sample of East West’s accused, 

Redesigned PDV Blower” housing that East West provided to Regal in November 2020.  (Id. at 

4, 5.).  East West argues that Regal knew that East West considered the gasket as attached as a 

part of the blower housing (“Blower Base Gasket” or “gasket” and a “Bracket Base Gasket” ) 

and for that reason, among others, the Redesigned PDV Blower, does not infringe the ’834 

patent.  (Id. at 5.). 

East West argues that Regal intentionally presented altered pictures of East West’s 

Redesigned PDV Blower, without the gasket, and knowingly mischaracterized East West’s 

Redesigned PDV Blower, to the Commission, both narratively and in photos, in order to support 

Regal’s Enforcement Complaint.  (Sanctions Mem. at 4-6, 8, and Exs. 1-9 to Sanctions Motion; 

see, e.g., Exs. 3, 5 to Enforcement Compl.; id. at ¶¶ 9, 39, 40. ).  East West claims that Regal 

falsely suggested that the Redesigned PDV Blower would be installed on a water heater without 

the gasket.  (Sanctions Mem. at 5, 15, 19, and Ex. 9 to Sanctions Motion; see Enforcement 

Compl., Ex. 3 at 2, 18 (other citations omitted).).  East West also argues that Regal falsely 
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compared the Original Blower (accused in the Underlying Proceeding) to the Redesigned PDV 

Blower, suggesting they were the same.  (Sanctions Mem. at 15 (citing Enforcement Compl. at 

¶¶ 9, 39, 40; Ex. 5 to Enforcement Compl.).).  

Stemming from those allegations, East West contends that Regal filed its Enforcement 

Complaint knowing that it was intentionally misrepresenting East West’s Redesigned PDV 

Blower to the Commission and thereby violated Commission Rule 210(4)(c).  In that vein, and 

under that Commission Rule, East West says that Regal’s conduct “did not just amount to a lack 

of candor” but rather was an “intentional and material misrepresentation.”  (Sanctions Mem. at 

16-17, 21.).  To that end, East West argues that Regal’s conduct, including that of signing a 

“verified” complaint that contains blatant misrepresentations, should be considered “objectively 

unreasonable under the circumstances” pursuant to Commission Rule 210.4(c) and (d).  19 

C.F.R. § 4(c) and (d).  (Sanctions  Mot. at 1; Sanctions Mem. at 16-17.).  In subsequent briefing, 

East West has reiterated its argument that it was forced into an expensive enforcement 

proceeding in which it was accused of a Consent Order violation and patent infringement that 

placed it in a poor light with its clients and the public.  (See, e.g., East West SBr. at 14; see also 

Suppl Tr. at 44.).  In its Supplemental Hearing Brief, East West argues that certain courts that 

require a “strict” adherence to Federal safe harbor requirements do not require a draft sanctions 

motion to be identical with a filed sanctions motion, and that certain Federal “strict” 

interpretations of safe harbor rules are “hyper-technical.”  (East West SBr. at 7, 8-12.).   

A. Regal  

Regal contends that East West’s Sanctions Motion should be denied because it is 

“baseless” and falsely represents that a “gasket” is part of the Redesigned PDV Blower 

“housing.”  (Opp’n at 1-2; id. at 20-21.).  Regal does not deny that it removed the “gasket 
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material” from East West’s Redesigned PDV Blower before photographs were taken, but that 

any changes it made were “cosmetic.”  (Id. at 15.).  Regal argues that it did not misrepresent East 

West’s Redesigned PDV Blower in its Enforcement Complaint and attached photos.  (Id.). 

Instead, Regal argues that it photographed the Redesigned PDV Blower only as part of its 

infringement analysis.  (Id. at 3.).  Regal disputes factually that the structure of a blower housing 

as described in the specification and the claim limitations of the ’834 patent include a “gasket,” 

especially as East West has presented, and contends that East West’s own documents 

“differentiate gasket pieces from the components of the blower housing.”  (Id. at 20-21; see also 

EID, evidentiary hearing transcript and Parties’ briefs cited in n.6, infra.; see also Suppl. Tr. at 

83:3-84:10.).  Regal also disputes East West’s characterizations of the structure of a blower 

housing in relation to a gasket according to the claims of the ’834 patent.  (Opp’n at 15-16, 12-

13; see Regal’s briefs cited in n.6.; Suppl. Tr. at 82:3-84:10.).  

Regal contends, as it has throughout the Enforcement Proceeding, that the differences 

between the East West blower that was accused in the Underlying Proceeding, and the 

Redesigned PDV Blower are “insufficient to avoid infringement.”  (Opp’n at 5.).  Regal notes 

that it informed East West of Regal’s conclusions on December 15, 2020.  (Id. (citing Ex. A to 

Opp’n).).  On January 6, 2021, Regal sent East West a draft of the Enforcement Complaint with 

a claim chart.  (Id. (citing Ex. B to Opp’n).).  Regal observes, correctly, that East West did not 

respond to the draft Enforcement Complaint or raise any objection.  (Id. (citing Decl. of J. Musch 

at ¶ 8).).  Regal has stated that by not filing its Enforcement Complaint for another week, “there 

was time for discussions.”  (Suppl. Tr. at 53:17-20.).  Regal also stated that if East West 

“honestly believed that Regal had fundamentally altered or misrepresented the modified blower 

in a material matter,” East West’s attorneys would have “quickly objected.”  (Id. at 53:17-23.).   
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Regal also stated during the Supplemental Hearing that if East West had objected during 

institution (or before), Regal “would have added [a] missing gasket.  (Id. at 54:4-14; id. at 57:2-

24.).  Again, East West has acknowledged that it did not respond or advise Regal it had problems 

with Regal’s draft Enforcement Complaint until after the Enforcement Complaint was filed.  (See 

id. at 24.) 

Regal contends that East West’s Sanctions Motion “misrepresents what the claims [of the 

’834 patent] require.”  ( Opp’n at 12.).  Regal has argued that: “(1) the claims of the ’834 patent 

do not require the circuitry compartment of the blower to rest on the surface of a water heater; 

(2) that the allegations in the Enforcement Complaint are “consistent with the behavior and 

positions of the parties before it was filed” and East West did not “object” until it started 

“threatening a sanctions motion; and (3) that East West failed to follow the safe-harbor 

requirements of Rule 210.4(d).”  (Id. at 2.).  Regal has argued that its legal positions have been 

consistent throughout and did not behave objectively unreasonably.  (Suppl. Tr. at 82:23-84:10.).  

With respect to the safe harbor provisions, Regal acknowledges that East West provided 

it with a draft sanctions motion, but then the Sanctions Motion that was filed was not identical to 

the draft.  Instead, East West modified paragraphs 2-18 without re-serving Regal with the 

Sanctions Motion that East West filed.  (Opp’n at 18 (citing Ex. 1, redlined draft of Sanctions 

Motion).).  Regal has argued for a strict interpretation and application of the safe harbor rules of 

Commission Rule 210.4(d)(1)(i) and of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11(c)(2).  

In response to the Notice to Show Cause, Regal reasserted its argument that sanctions are 

not warranted against it or the attorneys.  With respect to the “gasket removal,” Regal reasserted 

its previous arguments about the claims and scope of the ’834 patent and calls East West’s 

Sanctions Motion “inflammatory.”  (Regal SBr. at 6.).  In brief, Regal critiques the basis of the 
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Notice to Show Cause Order as not being “sua sponte.”  (Regal SBr. at 2, 4.).  Regal contends 

that the Commission is “without authority to prescribe sua sponte sanctions without ‘bad faith’ to 

the extent not allowed by Rule 11-regardless of language in Commission Rule 210.4.”  (Id. at 5-6 

(citations omitted).).   

B. Staff   

In its initial March 18, 2021 Response to the Sanctions Motion, Staff took the approach 

that a decision on the Sanctions Motion was premature and required a developed record.  (Staff 

Resp. at 1.).  Staff’s Response notes that the Private Parties have been fundamentally at odds 

about whether the “gasket” that Regal removed is material to whether the Redesigned PDV 

Blower practices the claims of the ’834 patent.  (Id. at 5 (also comparing contrary statements in 

Regal’s Opposition).).  Staff has argued that East West’s Sanctions Motion and Regal’s 

Opposition exposed certain factual disputes as well as legal disputes about the structure and 

operation of a blower pursuant to the claims of the ’834 patent, as well as with respect to the 

structure and operation of East West’s Redesigned PDV Blower in relation to the ’834 patent.  

(Id. at 6.).  Staff initially suggested in March 2021 that the completion of claim construction and 

discovery was necessary before a determination could be made of the “objective reasonableness” 

of the Private Parties’ actions “under the circumstances” as 19 C.F.R. § 210.4(c)(3) 

contemplates. 

 In its Supplemental Brief, Staff reviewed case precedent of 19 C.F.R. § 210.4 and 

corresponding Federal precedent that applies to the corollary Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11.  (Staff SBr. 

at 14.).  Additionally, Staff reviewed precedent with respect to the safe harbor requirements of 

Commission Rule 210.4(d)(1)(i) and Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11(c)(2).  (Id. at 1-5.).  In its 

Supplemental Brief, Staff observes that the “ALJ has significant discretion and flexibility in 
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fashioning the form and the amount of any appropriate sanction in the event a violation of Rule 

210 (c) is found, subject to the specific restrictions set forth in 19 C.F.R. § 210.4(d)(2)(i)(iv.).” 

(Id. at 12.).  Additionally, Commission Rule 210.4(d)(2) prohibits monetary sanctions against a 

“represented party or proposed” party.  (Id.).  Therefore, as Staff noted, that consistent with the 

development of precedent under the Commission’s Rules that mirror Fed. R. Civ. P. 11, any 

monetary sanctions as permitted by Rule 210.4(c)(2) would be levied against the attorneys.  (Id.).  

Staff observed that if a Notice to Show Cause were contemplated pursuant to Commission Rule 

210.4(d)(1)(ii), it should be directed at Regal’s “mischaracterizations of the Consent Order as an 

admission of infringement by East West.”  (Id. at 13.).   

 Staff’s position is that “there are certainly no basis [sic] for awarding fees or sanctions 

against East West.”  (Suppl. Tr. at 87:12:20 (citing the alleged “objective unreasonableness” of 

East West’s positions); see also Staff SBr.). 

 With respect to Regal’s complaint that the Sanctions Motion has been a “cloud hanging 

over” them throughout the proceeding, Staff observed that “Regal could have mooted that by just 

addressing some of the … whether or not they agree or disagree, they could have corrected some 

of the issues either during the safe harbor or even shortly thereafter.”  (Suppl. Tr. at 88:9-89:19.).  

Staff also noted that during the Hearing, Regal’s counsel attempted to justify or excuse its 

characterization of the Consent Order as the honest subjective belief of Regal and its counsel.” 

(Staff SBr. at 13 (citing Hr. Tr. at 70:11-14 (other citations omitted).).  Referencing Regal’s 

knowledge by February 25, 2021 that East West had pointed out that it had not admitted 

infringement, Staff added: 

[A]t least from that point forward, in the Staff’s view, Regal and/or its counsel     
could no longer claim any good-faith, subjective belief that the Consent Order 
was an admission of infringement, and should have taken steps to withdraw or 
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otherwise correct that false allegation in its enforcement Complaint.  See Fed. R. 
Civ. P. 11, Advisory Committee Notes…..(quotation omitted). 

 
(Staff SBr. at 14.) 
  

Noting the potentially detrimental commercial impact on East West, Staff continued: 

“Regal’s continuing refusal to correct a clearly false allegation in its enforcement 

complaint…potentially supports an inference of bad faith here.”  (Id. (citing Suppl. Tr. at 44).). 

And finally, “[N]or can Regal downplay or excuse its mischaracterization as an isolated error or 

sloppy pleading, as even “isolated” errors and “sloppy” pleading may warrant sanctions.” (Id. at 

14-15, n.4 (citing 19 C.F.R. § 210.4(d).).   

III. DISCUSSION AND ORDERS WITH RECOMMENDATION 

A. Orders And Recommendation  

For the reasons explained below, I am not ordering monetary sanctions against Regal or it 

counsel pursuant to Commission Rule 210.4 (c) and (d)8or pursuant to the corresponding Fed. R. 

 
8 Commission Rule 210.4(c ) and (d) state in pertinent part: 
(c) Representations. By presenting to the presiding administrative law judge or the Commission (whether by 
signing, filing, submitting, or later advocating) a pleading, written motion, or other paper, an attorney or 
unrepresented party or proposed party is certifying that to the best of the person's knowledge, information, and 
belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances - 

(d) Sanctions. If, after notice and a reasonable opportunity to respond (see paragraphs (d)(1)(i) and (ii) of this 
section and § 210.25), the presiding administrative law judge or the Commission determines that paragraph (c) of 
this section has been violated, the administrative law judge or the Commission may, subject to the conditions stated 
below and in § 210.25, impose an appropriate sanction upon the attorneys, law firms, or parties that have violated 
paragraph (c) or are responsible for the violation. A representation need not be frivolous in its entirety in order for 
the administrative law judge or the Commission to determine that paragraph (c) has been violated. If any portion of 
a representation is found to be false, frivolous, misleading, or otherwise in violation of paragraph (c), a sanction may 
be imposed. In determining whether paragraph (c) has been violated, the administrative law judge or 
the Commission will consider whether the representation or disputed portion thereof was objectively reasonable 
under the circumstances. 

(1) How initiated. 

(i) By motion. A motion for sanctions under this section shall be made separately from other motions or 
requests and shall describe the specific conduct alleged to violate paragraph (c). It shall be served as provided 
in paragraph (g) of this section, but shall not be filed with or presented to the presiding administrative law 
judge or the Commission unless, within seven days after service of the motion (or such other period as 
the administrative law judge or the Commission may prescribe), the challenged paper, claim, defense, 
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Civ. P. Rule 11(b) and (c).  As discussed briefly, below, I have applied the strict interpretation of 

the “safe harbor” provision of Commission Rule 210.4(d)(1)(i) and of the corresponding Fed. R. 

Civ. P. Rule 11(c)(2), and the other restrictions of Commission Rule 210.4(d)  Therefore, that 

part of East West’s Sanctions Motion, Motion Docket 1217-001, is denied.   

I also am denying Regal’s requests for sanctions against East West.  While Regal asked 

for monetary sanctions pursuant to Commission Rule 210.4(d), Regal failed to observe the safe 

harbor provision of Commission Rule 210.4(d)(1)(i) and of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11(c)(2).  

Instead of filing a cross-motion, Regal incorporated its sanctions “request” into its Opposition to 

East West’s Sanctions Motion.  (Opp’n at 20.).  Regal did not provide East West with an advance 

copy of its own “requests” for sanctions as a separate pleading.  Regal did not follow the same 

rules strictly that it has asked be applied to East West.  I am applying the same standard to the 

Private Parties requests for monetary sanctions against one another. 

 
contention, allegation, or denial is not withdrawn or appropriately corrected. See also § 210.25 (a) through (c). 
If warranted, the administrative law judge or the Commission may award to the party or 
proposed party prevailing on the motion the reasonable expenses and attorney's fees incurred in presenting or 
opposing the motion. Absent exceptional circumstances, a law firm shall be held jointly responsible for 
violations committed by its partners, associates, and employees. 

opposing the motion. Absent exceptional circumstances, a law firm shall be held jointly responsible for 
violations committed by its partners, associates, and employees. 

(ii) On the administrative law judge's or the Commission's initiative. The administrative law judge or 
the Commission may enter an order sua sponte describing the specific conduct that appears to 
violate paragraph (c) of this section and directing an attorney, law firm, party, or proposed party to show cause 
why it has not violated paragraph (c) with respect thereto. 

(2) Nature of sanctions; limitations. A sanction imposed for violation of paragraph (c) of this section shall be 
limited to what is sufficient to deter repetition of such conduct or comparable conduct by others similarly 
situated. Subject to the limitations in paragraphs (d)(2)(i) through (iv) of this section, the sanction may consist 
of, or include, directives of a nonmonetary nature, an order to pay a penalty, or, if imposed on motion and 
warranted for effective deterrence, an order directing payment to the movant of some or all of the reasonable 
attorney's fees and other expenses incurred as a direct result of the violation. 
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Nonetheless, I am considering this Order to be a warning issued to Regal’s attorneys 

pursuant to Commission Rule 210.4(d)(1) and (2), as appropriate.  (See Staff SBr. at 6, 12, 15 

n.3, 16 n.5 (citing Certain Concealed Cabinet Hinges, Inv. No. 337-TA-289, Comm’n Op., 1990 

WL 10608981, at *6, 8 (Jan. 8, 1990)).).  East West’s Sanctions Motion should have placed 

Regal on notice that certain of the paragraphs of the Enforcement Complaint were Regal’s legal 

views and opinion and not factual.  (Sanctions Motion at 2-7; id. Photographs of Redesigned 

PDV Blower at pages 7-14 and comparing against Enforcement Complaint at pp. 8-10; id. at ¶¶ 

9, 39, and 40 and Enforcement Complaint at Exs. 3, 5, i.e. Photographs of the Redesigned PDV 

Blower.).  The photographs contained in the Enforcement Complaint do not contain pictures of 

the gaskets that East West has argued distinguish it from the PDV blower accused in the 

Underlying Proceeding.   

East West’s Sanctions Motion did not provide “false information” as Regal has accused.  

(Opp’n at 21.).  Instead, East West’s Sanctions Motion points out problems in both Regal’s 

narrative and photographs in that Regal does not present how East West Redesigned Blower is 

constructed—whether or not Regal thinks that East West’s use of the gasket material is wrong.  

Regal has not agreed with East West’s legal positions about the “gaskets” and whether a gasket 

is “claimed” in the ’834 patent as is Regal’s right.  The strictly legal arguments are not the issue.  

Neither, as the Show Cause Order notes, is whether Regal removed the gasket material from East 

West’s Redesigned PDV Blower to see what the construction looked like underneath the 

removed gasket material.   

Whether Regal is proven correct in its legal positions remains to be seen.  However, 

Regal did not present pictures of the Redesigned Blower with the gaskets in place “or attached” 

as East West presented in its sample blower to Regal.  (See Enforcement Compl.).  The gaskets 
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are not shown, even as an aside.  To an objective observer, Regal’s pictures of the allegedly 

Redesigned PDV Blower can be perceived as misleading together with Regal’s descriptions of it. 

(See e.g. Enforcement Complaint at pp. 8-10; id. at Exs. 3, 5; id. at ¶¶ 9, 39, 40.). 

Similarly, the issue is not whether the Parties agreed or disagreed about legal positions or 

even some of the mixed questions of law and fact.  Also, not at issue are Regal’s statements in 

the Enforcement Complaint that describe its legal views and theories of the case.  

What is problematic are pictures that are not wholly accurate.  Additionally at issue are  

Regal’s reiterated statements, as the Show Cause Order states, that East West “admitted” that it 

infringed the ’834 patent, first in the Enforcement Complaint, and then as briefing continued.  

There is a difference between Regal’s “subjective” views and fact.  There is a difference between 

“tacit” and “explicit.”  There is a difference between “opinion” and fact.  The Consent Oder 

Stipulation tells the world that East West did not admit that it violated the Consent Order.  

(Consent Order Stipulation at ¶ 6.).  The Consent Order incorporates the same.  

The Consent Order Stipulation states “East West’s signing of this Stipulation is for 

settlement purposes only and does not constitute admission by East West that an unfair act has 

been committed.”  (See Order No. 6, Attachment A to Initial Determination Granting 

Respondents’ Motion to Terminate the Investigation Based On Consent Order Stipulation And 

To Stay the Procedural Schedule, Consent Order Stipulation at ¶ 6.).   

 Regal’s “subjective belief” does not matter on this point.  Again, it should be clear: 

litigation is about presenting a view, but based on fact or, at least initially, “by information and 

belief” and not solely on a theory of the case.  More to the point, if there had been a “party 

admission,” by East West, this litigation would have ended.  Nonetheless, even after Regal was 

corrected about its statements, it persisted.  (Accord Staff SBr. at 14, 15 (citations omitted).). 
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As a result of the Supplemental Hearing, I gave Regal and Regal’s attorneys the benefit 

of the doubt of whether some of the statements and arguments they made were “objectively 

reasonable,” let alone whether they rose to a level “bad faith.”  That said, some of Regal’s 

aspersions and language should have been tamed and moderated.   

On the narrow issue of the Consent Order and Consent Order Stipulation, the Consent 

Order is not “tacit” admission that East West violated the Consent Order.  (Regal SBr. at 14.).  

Regal stated during the Supplemental Hearing that it could have revised its Enforcement 

Complaint during the Commission “institution” period but did not because it was not aware of 

East West’s problems with the draft Enforcement Complaint.  (Suppl. Tr. at 53:2-54:19.). That 

may be understandable given East West’s initial lack of response. 

However, Regal did not file a motion to amend the Enforcement Complaint even after 

Regal knew of East West’s objections and concerns, and at least by the February 23, 2021 “meet 

and confer.”  In Regal’s October 6, 2021 Supplemental Brief, belatedly Regal requested to file a 

corrected Enforcement Complaint.  (Regal SBr. at 4.).  While Regal embedded its “request” in its 

Supplemental Brief, Regal did not file a motion to amend its Enforcement Complaint and has not 

yet.  Regal might have attached a draft, revised Enforcement Complaint to its Supplemental Brief 

with a motion to amend the Enforcement Complaint.  (Regal SBr. at 4.).  

Another point should be clear.  It is apparent, based upon the Private Parties’ Markman 

and infringement positions, and the Exhibits in the record, many of which are discussed in the 

EID, that regardless of East West’s Sanctions Motion, and Regal’s counter-request for sanctions, 

the Private Parties have been at odds since 2019 when Regal began losing business to East West 

as a result of the blower that East West was able to design and sell to one of Regal’s major 
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customers.  (See Underlying Complaint; Enforcement Complaint; Briefs as cited in n.6 herein, 

and EID.).   

Regal sought to protect its patent rights by suing East West in July 2020 in the 

Underlying Proceeding.  Regal’s perspective is that East West negotiated the Consent Order 

knowing it had another PDV blower in design or production and failed to reveal that to Regal 

before Regal agreed to the Consent Order.  Regal has called East West’s failure of disclosure 

“gamesmanship.”  (See EID and briefs, n.6.).  East West contends that Regal has maintained 

“objectively unreasonable” Markman constructions and infringement arguments and has ignored 

the actual structure of East West’s Redesigned Blower.  The Private Parties’  legal “positions” 

are not at issue.  I have largely discounted East West’s arguments that Regal’s Markman and 

infringement arguments are “objectively unreasonable.”  Regal has a legal position that may or 

may not be proven correct.  Regal is not the first litigant to take a “position” that another party  

has considered unreasonable, only to win with its viewpoint and legal theories on appeal. That 

may be particularly so when there are paradigm shifts occurring, as may be the case now. 

However, I am ordering that Regal redact/strike the photographs in Exhibits 3 and 5 to 

Regal’s Enforcement Complaint and at pages 8-10, and ¶¶ 9, 39 and 40 of the Enforcement 

Complaint.   

Most, if not all the pictures in Regal’s Opposition to the Sanctions Motion should be 

removed.  I am placing the obligation on Regal to remove any other pictures and narratives from 

its presentations that are not fair  reproductions of East West’s Redesigned Blower as it was 

presented to Regal or are not accurate representations of what exists versus what Regal believes 

should exist.  
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I recommend that if Regal repeats even once in a pleading or in oral argument that East 

West has “admitted” that it violated the Consent Order or the Consent Order Stipulation, that 

monetary sanctions be imposed pursuant to Commission Rule 210.4(d)(1)(ii) in an amount to be 

determined by the Commission.  While I am not recommending an amount in the event of 

violation, I have considered that no less than $10,000.00 per month—from March 2021 when 

Regal knew that East West had not admitted to violating the Consent Order or the Consent Order 

Stipulation—might be appropriate if Regal restates an “objectively” knowable statement on this 

issue. 

The bases for the Orders and recommendation are provided, in brief, below. 

B. East West’s Sanctions Motion, Regal’s Sanctions’ Requests and the ‘Safe 
Harbor’ Requirement  

 
“Commission Rules 210.4(c) and (d) are analogous to Rule 11(b) and (c) of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure, and the court cases under the Federal Rules guide, but do not govern, 

the application of the Commission’s Rules.”  Certain Point of Sale Terminals & Components 

Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-524, Order No. 40 at 9, Doc. ID No. 2300409 (Apr. 11. 2005).   

Commission Rule 210.4(d) and Rule 11 each require that a motion for sanctions first be 

served, but not filed, for a minimum period of time to allow the served party to withdraw or 

correct the purportedly sanctionable filing.  19 C.F.R. § 210.4(d)(1)(i); Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c)(2).  

Both rules require that a party on whom a sanctions motion will be filed be given notice of the 

content of the sanctions at least seven (7) days before the filing of such a motion.  

I am applying the majority Commission precedent to East West’s Sanctions Motion that 

requires “strict” compliance with Commission Rule 210.4(d).  (See Staff SBr. at 1, 3 (citing 

Certain Display Controllers & Prod. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-491, Order No. 14 at 2 

(Sept. 22, 2003) (Doc. ID 192596); Certain Oscillating Sprinklers, Sprinkler Components, & 
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Nozzles, Inv. No. 337TA-448, Order No. 25 at 3-4 (Sept. 25, 2001) (Doc. ID 60429); contra 

Certain Salinomycin Biomass & Preparations Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-370, 

Recommended Determination Regarding Respondents’ Motion for Sanctions, 1997 WL 329651, 

at *5 (May 14, 1997) (vacated on other grounds)).).   

With respect to the analogous Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11, and specifically with respect to 

Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11(c)(2), the Parties have noted that Federal Courts are divided on whether 

the safe harbor of Rule 11 requires the motion that has been served and the motion that has been 

filed to be “identical.”  (See, e.g., Staff SBr. at 4 (citing Konecranes Global Corp. v. Mode Tech 

(Beijing) Co., Ltd., No. 18-cv-2015, 2020 WL 1434394 at *3 (D. Nev. Mar. 24, 2020)); see also 

Regal SBr. at 4-6; East West SBr. at 6-12.).).  After reviewing certain of the Federal decisions, to 

be consistent, again, I am applying the precedent that requires strict adherence to the safe harbor 

rule.  

Sanctions motions and the allegations contained therein are serious business.  They 

should be filed only as an exception.  A strict application of the rules pertaining to sanctions is a 

line drawing that normatively should be observed scrupulously.  

There is no question that East West did not serve Regal at least seven days before filing 

with the exact Sanctions Motion East West filed on March 1, 2021, consistent with Commission 

Rule 210.4(d)(1)(i) and the strict application of that rule and of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11(c)(2).  

Regal’s “red lined” comparison of the draft Sanctions Motion it received against the exact 

Sanctions Motion East West filed provides a good visual comparison that helps explain the 

differences between the two documents.  (See Ex. 1 to Opp’n.).  While much of the content was 

the same in East West’s draft Sanctions Motion and the Sanctions Motion it filed, East West did 

make changes to accommodate some of Regal’s concerns and removed some of what Regal 
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considered to be “inflammatory” content and especially that Regal “photoshopped” some of the 

pictures in the Enforcement Complaint.  (See infra; see also Suppl. Tr. at 91:2-20.).  Nonetheless,  

East West did not serve the exact Sanctions Motion on Regal in compliance with a strict 

interpretation of the Commission Rule or Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11(c)(2).  

Regal did not file a sanctions motion of its own in compliance with Commission Rule 

210.4(d)(1)(i) and of Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11(c)(2) and their safe harbor provisions. 

C. The Enforcement Complaint and Regal’s Removal of Gaskets 

East West conceded during the Supplemental Hearing that it did not immediately notify 

Regal of its concerns about the photographs and statements Regal made in the draft Enforcement 

Complaint that Regal provided East West on January 6, 2021.  (Suppl. Tr.  at 23:23-24:19.).   

By contrast, Regal provided East West with more than one week to review the allegations 

in the draft Enforcement Complaint before Regal filed the Enforcement Complaint on January 

15, 2021.  East West should have engaged Regal sooner with its objections.  East West did not 

inform Regal of its own concerns about the Enforcement Complaint until February 18, 2021 and 

its service of the draft Sanctions Motion.   

Clearly, the Parties’ views of the ’834 patent, of the requirements of the asserted claims, 

and of whether or not East West’s Redesigned PDV Blower infringe the ’834 patent have been 

irreconcilable.  On the strictly legal questions, which party is ultimately “correct” in its legal 

positions and arguments about Markman constructions and infringement remains to be seen.  

The question is whether Regal’s views as expressed in its Enforcement Complaint, and 

even subsequent briefing were “objectively reasonable under the circumstances.”  See 

Commission Rule 210.4(c).  Broadly, Regal’s arguments deserve credence that the Enforcement 

Complaint reflected what Regal and its attorneys saw were legal disputes about the scope of the 
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’834 patent and infringement.  Regal has argued throughout this litigation that a “gasket” is not 

claimed in the ’834 patent. Regal has often has called the gaskets  “irrelevant.”  (See briefs and 

EID.).  Regal has argued consistently  throughout this litigation that the Redesigned PDV Bower 

infringes the ’834 patent.  Any inconsistencies in Regal’s positions will be dealt with on the 

merits.  However, the tone of many of the arguments was not merely descriptive; at times it  

appeared to be designed for the “win” and not necessarily for the truth.  

Regal has acknowledged in its Opposition, or since March 18, 2021, that it removed the 

gaskets from the Redesigned PDV Blower.  (Opp’n at 2-4.).  That alone is not problematic since 

competitors often deconstruct others’ products to see what lies within.   

What was problematic was that Regal did not take the care to acknowledge in its 

Enforcement Complaint that the photographs were reinforcement of its own “views” and not 

necessarily the Redesigned PDV Blower as presented.  There is not a single clear picture of the 

“Blower Base Gasket” and “Bracket Base Gasket.”  Regal has not yet corrected statements or its 

pictorial presentations to include a picture of the Redesigned Blower with the Blower Base 

Gasket attached as East West presented its sample to Regal or to restate how East West describes 

the Redesigned Blower, even if Regal disagrees, as it has consistently.  (See, e.g., Enforcement 

Compl. at ¶¶ 9, 40, 41, and Exs. 3 and 5 to Enforcement Compl.).  That may or may not be 

possible.  However, Regal’s photographs of the Redesigned PDV blower sitting flat against a 

surface—without the gasket—as East West’s blower housing is constructed, can be perceived as 

misleading even though from Regal’s perspective, a blower housing—regardless of East West’s 

arguments—do not include gaskets and neither does the ’834 patent.  Yet even though the 

Enforcement Complaint has not been corrected, it should be, where appropriate.  Regal is being 

ordered to correct its Enforcement Complaint and any other documents it uses going forward.  
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D. The Consent Order Stipulation and Consent Order  

Commission Rule 210.d(1)(ii) provides in pertinent part that sanctions may be initiated 

“[o]n the administrative law judge’s or the Commission’s initiative,” by entering an order to 

show cause.  19 C.F.R. § 210.4(d)(1)(ii) (“The administrative law judge or the Commission may 

enter an order sua sponte describing the specific conduct that appears to violate paragraph (c) of 

this section and directing an attorney, law firm, party, or proposed party to show cause why it has 

not violated paragraph (c) with respect thereto.”). The Show Cause Notice issued after a review 

of the entire record that had been developed through the July 20-23, 2021 Hearing and the 

September 22, 2021 Supplemental Hearing.   

Regal repeated its belief as late as its Supplemental Brief that East West had “tacitly” 

admitted infringement in the Consent Order Stipulation, even if it has finally dawned on Regal 

that its “belief” and statements are wrong.  (See Regal SBr. at 14.).   

The Consent Stipulation and its contents are a matter of fact.  Regal’s attorneys’ 

“subjective belief” does not matter here.  What was broadcast to others as being “true” when it 

was not, does matter, a great deal.  It is one thing to argue that there has been a violation; that is 

what happens in every litigation.  It is another to say the other party has admitted to the 

accusation when it has not.  The warning in this Order should be enough of a deterrent for 

anyone to think, think again, edit, and write once.  Words matter.  Facts matter. Taming tone 

matters.  

As John Adams famously remarked: “Facts are stubborn things; and whatever may be our 

wishes, our inclinations, or the dictates of our passion, they cannot alter the state of facts and 

evidence.”   

Within fourteen (14) business days of the date of this document, each party shall submit 
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to the Office of the Administrative Law Judges through McNamara337@usitc.gov a statement 

whether it seeks to have any confidential portion of this document.  That is the courtesy copy 

pursuant to Ground Rule 1.3.2.  Any party seeking redactions to the public version must submit 

to this office through McNamara337@usitc.gov a copy of a proposed public version of this 

document pursuant to Ground Rule 1.10 with yellow highlighting clearly indicating  

any portion asserted to contain confidential business information.  

SO ORDERED.      
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